ATOMIC LAYER DEPOSITION AS A METHOD OF FINE TUNING THE SURFACE CHEMISTRY OF OXIDE MATERIALS

A Dissertation Presented to The Academic Faculty

by

Typher Yom

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in the School of Materials Science and Engineering

> Georgia Institute of Technology December 2023

COPYRIGHT © 2023 BY TYPHER YOM

ATOMIC LAYER DEPOSITION AS A METHOD OF FINE TUNING THE SURFACE CHEMISTRY OF OXIDE MATERIALS

Approved by:

Dr. Mark Losego (Advisor) School of Materials Science and Engineering *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Dr. Juan-Pablo Correa-Baena School of Materials Science and Engineering *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Dr. Joshua Kacher School of Materials Science and Engineering *Georgia Institute of Technology*

Date Approved: November 21, 2023

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Mark Losego, for kindly taking me under his wing and making research even more enjoyable than it already is. Having come primarily from a solution-phase synthetic background, I was pleasantly surprised to have learned much about vapor-phase deposition as well as the strange intricacies that come with building custom-made reactors. Working under him has truly made me feel that Georgia Tech was the right place to be.

I would also like to thank my undergraduate mentor, Michelle Muzzio, for her patience and enthusiasm, both in doing her research and in mentoring me. Though I no longer synthesize metal alloy nanoparticles and perform catalytic reactions (for now), I still use many of the techniques and tricks that she has taught me. To me, she is a model of how to be a mentor and teacher, and without her influence, I could not be the scientist that I am today.

Further thanks to my lab colleagues, both current and past, for their help inside and outside the lab. To those who have graduated – Shawn Gregory, Emily McGuinness, and Jamie Wooding – your help and advice during the COVID years has given me ample preparation to establish myself in Dr. Losego's lab. And to those who I currently share an office with – Shuaib Balogun, Benjamin Jean, and Li Zhang – your company and banter have made the day-to-day much more bearable, especially during the darker days. I am honored to call you all my friends and colleagues, and I hope you all feel the same way towards me.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank my mother, father, and brother for their endless love and support, both financial and emotional, for my endeavors. These words alone cannot describe just how privileged I am to have such an amazing family that has given me a happy and fulfilling life. Though I did not become an ophthalmologist as I had promised them

iii

when I was a child, I would like to continue on from this Master's degree and finish with a Ph.D, so I can technically still be a doctor. I am forever indebted to you, and I will always work to make you proud.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
List of Figures	vii
List of Equations	ix
List of Symbols and Abbreviations	X
Summary	xi
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Catalysis	1
1.1.1 Overview	1
1.1.2 Acid Catalysis	3
1.1.3 Brønsted Acid Catalysts	4
1.1.4 Lewis Acid Catalysts	5
1.2 Acid Properties	б
1.2.1 Acid Strength and the Hammett Acidity Function	6
1.2.2 Acid Amount	8
1.2.3 Acid Hardness/Softness	10
1.2.4 Solid Acid Catalysts and Surface Acidity	10
1.2.5 Surface Acidity and Mixed Oxides	12
1.2.6 Zeolites	17
1.3 Surface Charge	17
1.3.1 Surface Charge Models	18
1.3.2 Isoelectric Point	20
1.3.3 Mixed Oxides and Isoelectric Point	21
1.4 Surface Acidity and Isoelectric Point of Mixed Oxid	les 23
1.5 Atomic Layer Deposition	24
1.5.1 Powder ALD	26
1.6 Statement of Purpose	27
2. Experimental Methods	29
2.1 Atomic Layer Deposition Recipe	29

	2.2	Mass Titration	31
	2.3	Zeta Potential Analysis	31
3.	Mode	eling Thickness and Ti Atomic Percent	32
	3.1	Particle ALD and Hold Time	32
	3.2	Monolayer Thickness and Relative Atomic Percent	33
	3.3	Elemental Analysis: SEM-EDX and XPS	37
	3.4	Elemental Analysis: Chlorine	39
4.	Zeta	Potential as a Function of Film Thickness	44
4.	Zeta 4.1	Potential as a Function of Film Thickness Zeta Potential	44 45
4.	Zeta 4.1 4.2	Potential as a Function of Film Thickness Zeta Potential Potential Active Sites	44 45 47
4 . 5 .	Zeta 4.1 4.2 Conc	Potential as a Function of Film Thickness Zeta Potential Potential Active Sites lusions and Future Work	44 45 47 49
4. 5.	Zeta 4.1 4.2 Conc 5.1	Potential as a Function of Film Thickness Zeta Potential Potential Active Sites Iusions and Future Work Conclusions	44 45 47 49 49
4. 5.	Zeta 4.1 4.2 Conc 5.1 5.2	Potential as a Function of Film Thickness Zeta Potential Potential Active Sites Iusions and Future Work Conclusions Future Work	44 45 47 49 49 50

List of Figures

Figure 1: Pie charts showing (A) the relative percentages of all processes that require catalysts and (B) catalytic processes that require the use of heterogeneous, homogeneous, and biocatalysts.
Figure 2 Homogeneous (left) vs heterogeneous (right) catalysts. Homogeneous catalysts have high selectivity due to their iteratively studied molecular structure. Heterogenous catalysts have lower selectivity due to the multiple different active sites (red) present
Figure 3 : Brønsted vs Lewis acid: Brønsted acids donate a proton to a base, such as an OH group donating its proton to a base B, while Lewis acids accept an electron pair from a base, such as the titanium cation accepting an electron pair from a base B
Figure 4: Mechanism of Brønsted acid catalyzed alkylation of isobutane with light olefins 4
Figure 5 : Mechanism of Friedel-Crafts alkylation of a benzene ring using an alkyl halide and a Lewis acid such as AlCl3
Figure 6: Table of basic indicators used to determine the H ₀ of Brønsted acids
Figure 7 : Highest acid strength of mixed oxides compared with their averaged electronegativity values
Figure 8 : Coordination numbers of each ion of SiO2-ZrO2 mixed oxide. When SiO2 is the major component, oxygen has a coordination number of 2. When ZrO2 is the major component, oxygen has a coordination of 4
Figure 9 : Result of Kung's model for the formation of new acid sites when adding oxide AOy moieties to matrix BOz
Figure 10 : Oxide surface charges as a function of pH. The solution can exchange its protons to the oxide surface, creating $-OH_2^+$ or OH^- moieties that give the surface a positive or negative charge, respectively
Figure 11 : Helmholtz model of the electric double layer. Based off of a parallel plate capacitor, the surface electric potential $\psi 0$ decreases with distance δ
Figure 12 : Gouy-Chapman model of the electric double layer. Unlike the Helmholtz layer, the counterion concentration is more dispersed, with a higher concentration and electric surface potential near the surface
Figure 13 : Schematic of the zeta potential measuring process. The split light beam entering the sample has its frequency changed due to the mobility of the particles scattering the light
Figure 14 : Isoelectric point changes of ZrO2 mixed with increasing amounts of La2O3. The La2O3 is assumed to be covering the ZrO2 as a monolayer up to 3% La2O3, and then forms multilayer agglomerates beyond that

Figure 15 : Different structures of oxides A and B mixed: (Left) regions of unmixed oxide, allowing for surface regions of only A and only B. Interfacial effects are more negligible. (Right) Homogeneously mixed oxide surface. Interfacial effects are more significant
Figure 16 : Schematic of the ALD process. a) the precursor molecules react with active sites on the surface. b) a purge step removes unreacted precursor and by-products of the reaction. c) a coreactant is introduced, reacting with the new active surface sites. d) another purge step removes the unreacted precursor and by-products. 25
Figure 17 : Representation of a 2 cm deep crucible filled with uncoated powder arranged in a simple cubic arrangement. The depth of particles that becomes coated (dark blue) is displayed as a function of time. The entire bed of powder becomes coated after about 27 hours under 10 mbar of trimethyl aluminum precursor. 26
Figure 18 : Schematic of the ALD setup within the reactor tube. The powder is on top of a mesh within a glass cylinder
Figure 19: Two-dose recipe for coating powders via ALD
Figure 20 : Ti atomic percent as a function of hold time as measured using SEM-EDX. The amount of Ti doesn't change significantly with increasing hold time
Figure 21 : Spherical growth model and formulas required to calculate the relative atomic percentages of Ti and Si given the thickness of a vapor deposited layer
Figure 22 : Growth on convex vs concave shapes. In the former, the shape is retained due to growth vectors (arrowed) not intersecting. In concave geometries, the intersecting growth directions can significantly change the final shape
Figure 23: Calculated Ti atomic percent (red triangle) compared to experimentally determined values
Figure 24: Corrected calculated Ti atomic percent (red triangle) compared to experimentally determined values
Figure 25: Elemental analysis of TiCl4 deposited powders before and after washing cycles 40
Figure 26 : Elemental analysis of higher cycle post-washed samples. Chlorine is still retained after washing
Figure 27 : Mass titration curves of TiCl4 deposited alumina particles before and after washing in water
Figure 28 : Zeta potential with different layers of $TiCl_4$ on SiO_2 , from $0 - 160$ cycles
Figure 29 : Isoelectric point as a function of Ti at. %. The vertical red dashed lines represent one monolayer each
Figure 30 : Possible acid sites that can exchange protons with the solution to create surface charges. Bridging oxygen sites are unlikely to be acid sites

viii

List of Equations

Equation 1 : The Henderson Hasselbalch equation, in which the concentration of protons in solution is determined by the pKa and the concentrations of the acid and its conjugate base 6
Equation 2 : The Hammett acidity equation, in which the activity of the protons $(aH +)$ and the activities of the acid/conjugate base species ($\gamma A -$) and (γHA) are now factored into account 7
Equation 3 : Difference in electrostatic potential when a cation A from oxide AOy is substituted into oxide BOz
Equation 4: Isoelectric point of binary oxide materials, given oxide materials A and B
Equation 5 : Estimated thickness of one monolayer of material given the density (r), molecular weight (MW), and Avogadro's number (N _A)
Equation 6: Volume of TiO2 based on a spherical nanoparticle geometry
Equation 7 : (A) Simplified form of Equation 6. (B) Generalized form of (A), in which a, b, and c are volume-related parameters of the SiO_2 while a', b', and c' are the volume-related parameters of the TiO_2 coated SiO_2
Equation 8 : Ti atomic percent calculated based on current data. α is the number of surface sites and is dependent on the material factor

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

- ALD: Atomic Layer Deposition
- SiO₂: Silicon oxide
- **TiO₂:** Titanium oxide
- **TiCl4:** Titanium tetrachloride
- **TMA:** Trimethyl aluminum
- **RPM:** Revolutions per minute
- **SEM-EDX:** Scanning electron microscopy energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy
- **XPS:** X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
- MW: Molecular weight
- NA: Avogadro's Number
- **r**₁: Inner radius
- **r**₂: Outer radius
- **χ:** Titanium/silicon ratio
- At. %: Atomic Percent
- α : Atomic percent of surface sites of substrate

Summary

Atomic layer deposition (ALD) is a vapor-phase synthesis method in which a material is deposited onto a surface with precise atomic thickness. Through ALD, ultra-thin monolayers of oxide materials can be deposited onto powders, creating mixed oxide surfaces with tunable surface chemistries, enabling their usefulness towards catalytic processes in the petrochemical and fine chemical industries. ALD holds an advantage over typical solution-phase methods of creating mixed oxide materials due to the latter's difficulty in controlling the surface composition, making analysis difficult. However, if we can better understand the interactions of the surface in solution, it can be used to design more effective catalysts. One way to observe this is by studying the zeta potential of the surface, which is directly correlated with surface charge and is a product of these acid-base interactions at the interface. Each material can be identified using the isoelectric point, which is the point at which the zeta potential/net surface charge is zero. For mixed metal oxides, their isoelectric points were calculated in the literature to be the summation of each individual component's isoelectric point multiplied by its surface coverage. However, this calculation assumes that the components do not interact with each other when mixed. In order to investigate this discrepancy, we used ALD to deposit thin layers of titanium oxide onto silicon oxide powders. If we were to assume the equation used in the literature, we can assume that one single monolayer over the surface would be sufficient to convert the isoelectric point from that of silicon oxide to that of titanium oxide. However, our results have indicated that the isoelectric point did not reach that of titanium oxide until multiple monolayers were deposited, indicating that a different model/equation must be utilized to better elucidate the surface behavior. Additionally, during these studies of the isoelectric point, we have formulated an equation that can correlate the thickness of ALD-deposited films with the material's relative atomic percent. This equation was created by assuming that the shape of the particle + film

xi

retains its shape, and therefore its volume formula, allowing it to work for ultra-thin films, but not for much thicker films. Finally, this thesis highlights the importance of being mindful of the precursor used for powder ALD: precursors like TiCl₄ can create byproducts like HCl from the reactor walls and the powder itself. These byproducts can then adsorb onto the powder surface, which can block film growth or affect the pH of the resulting solution when the powder is dispersed in water. Extra measures, such as a double dose or a post-process washing step, were implemented, and should be used when performing powder ALD.



1.1 Catalysis

1.1.1 Overview



Figure 1: Pie charts showing (A) the relative percentages of all processes that require catalysts and (B) catalytic processes that require the use of heterogeneous, homogeneous, and biocatalysts.

Simply put, catalysts are facilitators: they are able to reduce the activation energy required to progress a reaction without being consumed in the process.¹ They are an essential part of our world: more than 80% of all manufactured products involve a catalyst at some point, highlighting its importance in today's economy (**Figure 1**).^{2, 3} The Haber-Bosch process, considered to be one of the world's most important inventions of the 20th century, uses iron oxide catalysts to produce ammonia from nitrogen and hydrogen gas, and is responsible for the production of food all around the world.⁴ The polymerization of olefins, which is responsible for the production of plastics worldwide, is catalyzed by a titanium based catalyst known as the Ziegler-Natta catalyst.⁵ Hydrodesulfurization, in which sulfur is removed from fuel in order to prevent the emissions of toxic sulfur (IV) oxide, requires the use of molybdenum-cobalt mixed catalysts. Without catalysts,



Figure 2 Homogeneous (left) vs heterogeneous (right) catalysts. Homogeneous catalysts have high selectivity due to their iteratively studied molecular structure. Heterogenous catalysts have lower selectivity due to the multiple different active sites (red) present.

these processes that make up a huge part of our lives would not be possible, and improving these catalysts is an ever-important topic in chemistry research.

To improve catalysis, we must look at the properties of a catalyst that make it work for a reaction. A catalyst's performance is defined by three parameters: activity, selectivity, and recoverability.⁶ The activity of a catalyst is described by its yield, or how much of the reactants are converted into products. The selectivity of a catalyst is its ability to preferentially yield one product over another. Finally, the recovery of a catalyst is the ease with which the catalysts can be separated from the products.

Catalysts can be divided into homogeneous catalysts, which have high activity and selectivity but low recovery, and heterogeneous catalysts, which have high activity, low selectivity, and high recovery (**Figure 2**). Homogeneous catalysts are usually molecular catalysts that are in the same phase as the products. Due to their molecular nature, it is very easy to identify

and tune the active sites of these catalysts to adjust their reactivity, enabling them to have high activity and selectivity.⁷ However, recovering these catalysts can require energy-intensive methods such as distillation or liquid-phase separation. Examples of homogeneous catalysts are the Ziegler-Natta catalyst and the Suzuki-Miyaura catalyst. On the other hand, heterogeneous catalysts are in a separate phase from the products, such as nanoparticles and catalyst powders. This separated phase allows the catalysts to be recovered more easily with methods such as centrifugation and filtration.⁸ But the active site of these catalysts are difficult to isolate, such as the many different facets present in polyhedral nanoparticles, and selectivity and sometimes yield is low as a result.⁶ Examples of heterogeneous catalyst. Despite their drawbacks, heterogeneous catalysts are significantly more used than homogeneous catalysts and biocatalysts as it accounts for 80% of all catalyzed processes in the chemical industry.³





Figure 3: Brønsted vs Lewis acid: Brønsted acids donate a proton to a base, such as an OH group donating its proton to a base B, while Lewis acids accept an electron pair from a base, such as the titanium cation accepting an electron pair from a base B

One of the most important areas within this catalysis industry is acid catalysis, which is the use of a proton donor or electron acceptor to catalyze a chemical reaction. These types of acids can be further categorized into Brønsted acids, which are characterized by proton donors like H₂SO₄ or HF, and Lewis acids, which are characterized by electron acceptors such as AlCl₃ and

 BF_3 (Figure 3). These acid catalysts are some of the major catalysts used in these industries and are homogeneous catalysts.





As one of the most industrially important processes used in the petrochemical industry, alkylation using light olefins is an example of a reaction that uses Brønsted acid catalysts.⁹⁻¹³ In this reaction, an addition reaction is performed on the double bond of an olefin via a strong proton (H^+) donor, creating a carbocation. This carbocation is located on a secondary carbon, and abstracts a hydride (H^-) from isobutane (red), as the tertiary carbon of the isobutane can better stabilize the carbocation than the secondary carbon. This isobutane carbocation then performs an addition reaction onto another olefin, re-creating a secondary carbocation which then abstracts a hydrogen from another isobutane molecule, continuing the reaction.¹³ Finally, the acid regenerates by abstracting a proton from the carbon neighboring the carbocation, performing an elimination reaction and recreating an olefin (**Figure 4**).

1.1.4 Lewis Acid Catalysts



Figure 5: Mechanism of Friedel-Crafts alkylation of a benzene ring using an alkyl halide and a Lewis acid such as AlCl3.

Lewis acids also play a large role in the chemical industry: Friedel-Crafts catalysis is one of the most industrially important processes in the production of low and high volume chemicals. In Friedel-Crafts catalysis, Lewis acid catalysts are used to add substituents to benzene such as acyls, benzoyls, alkyls, and sulphonyl groups. As seen in **Figure 5**, a Lewis acid catalyst such as AlCl₃ activates an alkyl halide (chloride), allowing a benzene ring to attack the alkyl portion of the halide and creating a carbocation which is resonance stabilized throughout the ring. The unfilled orbital in AlCl₃ allows for it to take in an electron pair, so it is able to take in an electron pair from the negatively charged chloride, becoming AlCl₄⁻. The AlCl₄⁻ molecule then has one of the chlorine ions abstract the proton adjacent to the alkyl group, restoring the aromaticity of the benzene ring, creating HCl byproduct, and restoring the AlCl₃ catalyst. Most batch processes use AlCl₃ and other similar metal halide catalysts can be readily hydrolyzed and would be difficult to handle. Consequently, these catalysts must be employed in stoichiometric quantities, posing health and safety hazards for a large inventory.¹²

Many of these acid catalyzed processes require strong acid catalysts, so sulfuric acid and other mineral acids are often used.¹² However, as many of these acids are toxic and corrosive, they must be separated from the product, adding process difficulties and leading to high costs and large

volumes of waste.¹⁴ Following the trend of green chemistry, it is necessary to utilize materials more efficiently, use less toxic solvents, and generate significantly less waste into the environment.¹⁵

1.2 Acid Properties

Before continuing on this thesis, there are some important concepts about acids that must be clarified: acid strength, acid amount, and acid hardness. It is important to differentiate these three parameters as each of these plays a distinct role in an acid's ability to catalyze a reaction.

1.2.1 Acid Strength and the Hammett Acidity Function

Acid strength is defined for Brønsted acids as the ability for a chemical species to donate its proton. Inversely, it can be interpreted as the stability of an acid's conjugate base after it dissociates or is deprotonated, which can be done if the electron density of the acid site is shifted away from the acid site.

The extreme end of Brønsted acidity – that is, acids that have an extremely strong proton donating power – is known as superacidity and is defined as having a proton donating strength greater than that of pure 100% sulfuric acid. Typically, the strength of an acid solution would be determined using the Henderson Hasselbalch equation, where the pH (concentration of H⁺ ions, or protons) would be determined by the acid dissociation constant, pKa, and the relative amounts of acid and conjugate base (**Equation 1**). However, this equation only applies to dilute acid solutions,

$$pH = pKa + \log(\frac{[A^-]}{[HA]})$$

Equation 1: The Henderson Hasselbalch equation, in which the concentration of protons in solution is determined by the pKa and the concentrations of the acid and its conjugate base.

$$H_0 = pKa + \log\left(\frac{[A^-]}{[HA]}\right), \qquad H_0 = -\log a_{H^+} \frac{\gamma_{A^-}}{\gamma_{HA}}$$

Equation 2: The Hammett acidity equation, in which the activity of the protons (a_{H^+}) and the activities of the acid/conjugate base species (γ_{A^-}) and (γ_{HA}) are now factored into account.

in which the thermodynamic activity of the protons can be largely ignored, and their predicted concentrations would match the measured concentration of protons. However, for concentrated acid solutions, this activity begins to change much more quickly than the concentration, making pH an inaccurate measure of the true acidity of a solution. In order to compensate for this error, the idea of pH was replaced with the Hammett acidity parameter, H_0 , which takes into account the activity of the protons and the activity coefficients of the acid and conjugate species (**Equation 2**). In fact, the Henderson Hasselbalch equation is an approximation of the Hammett acidity equation, except that the activity coefficients are near unity, allowing pH and H_0 to be nearly identical. ^{16, 17}

Using Hammett acidity parameters, the H₀ of pure 100% sulfuric acid would be -12, meaning any acid that has an H₀ below -12 would be classified as a superacid.¹⁸ In many cases, a superacid solution can be created by mixing a strong Lewis acid with a strong Brønsted acid. Once the Brønsted acid gives its proton up, the Lewis acid can then stabilize the conjugate base and reduce its proton accepting ability, becoming even more acidic.¹⁹ One well known example of a superacid behaving in this manner is fluoroantimonic acid, which is a mixture of HF and HSbF₅. As two HF molecules (H₀ = -15) are mixed with SbF₅ (H₀ = -21), when one HF molecule dissociates into H⁺ and F⁻, the F⁻ ion is stabilized by the SbF₅, creating SbF₆⁻ which is an extremely weak base. The remaining H⁺ ends up binding to HF, as it is the strongest Brønsted base in the mixture, creating H₂F⁺ which has an H₀ of about -28.²⁰ The Hammett acidity function is used to define a Brønsted acid's strength and can be experimentally determined using titration techniques with indicators of known pKa. The indicator starts at its base form, and if it is protonated into its acid form, then the acid has a lower H₀ than the indicator's pKa. For example, from **Figure 6**, an acid that can change the color of 2,4-Dinitrofluorobenzene from colorless to yellow, but not the color of 1,3,5-trinitrotoluene will have an H₀ between -14.52 and -16.04. Any acid that cannot change the color of the base-form of any of these indicators would have an H₀ greater than $6.8.^{21}$

Another method of determining the acid strength is through the gaseous base adsorption method. When gaseous bases adsorb onto acid sites, the adsorption binding strength of the base depends on the acid strength: a stronger acid would bind more strongly to the base than a weaker one. At elevated temperatures, the more weakly-bound base would leave first, followed by the more strongly bound base as the temperature increases. The temperature-programmed desorption profile of base molecules such as pyridine or ammonia can then be taken to determine the relative strength of acid sites.²¹

1.2.2 Acid Amount

The amount of acid is the concentration of acid sites in an acid; for Brønsted acids specifically, it is the number of sites that can donate a proton. The acid amount is not necessarily dependent on the electron density of the site, but rather on the surface area of the solid acid.

Indicators	C	olor	р <i>К</i> а ^{†1}	[H ₂ SO ₄] ^{†2} /%
	Base - form	Acid-form	 р <i>Ка</i>	
Neutral red	yellow	red	+ 6.8	8×10 ⁻⁸
Methyl red	yellow	red	+ 4.8	_
Phenylazonaphthylamine	yellow	red	+ 4.0	5×10^{-5}
p-Dimethylaminoazobenzene	yellow	red	+ 3.3	3×10 ⁻⁴
2-Amino-5-azotoluene	yellow	red	+ 2.0	5×10^{-3}
Benzeneazodiphenylamine	yellow	purple	+ 1.5	2×10^{-2}
Crystal violet	blue	yellow	+ 0.8	0.1
p-Nitrobenzeneazo-				
(p'-nitro-diphenylamine)	orange	purple	+ 0.43	_
Dicinnamalacetone	yellow	red	- 3.0	48
Benzalacetophenone	colorless	yellow	- 5.6	71
Anthraquinone	colorless	yellow	- 8.2	90
2,4,6-Trinitroaniline	colorless	yellow	-10.10	98
p-Nitrotoluene	colorless	yellow	-11.35	†3
m - Nitrotoluene	colorless	yellow	-11.99	† 3
p-Nitrofluorobenzene	colorless	yellow	-12.44	† 3
p-Nitrochlorobenzene	colorless	yellow	-12.70	†3
<i>m</i> -Nitrochlorobenzene	colorless	yellow	-13.16	†3
2,4 - Dinitrotoluene	colorless	yellow	-13.75	` †3
2,4-Dinitrofluorobenzene	colorless	yellow	-14.52	† 3
1,3,5-Trinitrotoluene	colorless	yellow	-16.04	† 3

Figure 6: Table of basic indicators used to determine the H₀ of Brønsted acids.

Materials with higher specific surface areas such as smaller powders or porous materials will have higher acid amounts.

The acid amount can also be determined using amine/pyridine adsorption. By placing a sample placed onto a quartz spring balance, then evacuated, the mass of the sample is determined. Then, the base is introduced, adsorbing onto the sample, and then is evacuated as well until the sample mass does not decrease. The increased mass can be used to calculate the total mass of base, and subsequently the number of acid sites.

1.2.3 Acid Hardness/Softness

Acid hardness/softness is primarily used in the context of Lewis acids/bases and is not a measure of a chemical species' acidic/basic strength but rather on its polarizability. Small, relatively nonpolarizable species are considered hard while large, relatively polarizable species are considered soft. Following this definition, Pearson put a simple rule: hard acids preferably bind to hard bases, while soft acids preferably bind to soft bases. Examples of hard acids would be Ti⁴⁺ or Al³⁺, which are cations of electropositive metals with high charge-to-radius ratios, which would result in a smaller electron shell and therefore lower polarizability. These hard acids would bind to bases with donor atoms such as N, O, or F which are highly nonpolarizable due to their high electronegativities reducing their ionic radii. Due to the nature of these species, hard acid/base interactions tend to be more electrostatic. Soft acids like Au⁺, or Pd²⁺ would preferably bind to bases like CO or H⁻, with a more covalent bonding nature.

While the hard/soft acid-base theory applies mostly to Lewis acids, it is also worth noting that H^+ has no electrons to polarize and is therefore classified as a hard acid, and will bind preferentially to hard bases. This does not mean that the proton necessarily will bind to a *strong* base, simply that it would prefer to bind to a strong hard base rather than a strong soft base, if given the opportunity.²²

1.2.4 Solid Acid Catalysts and Surface Acidity

Yet another class of acid catalysts that exists in the realm of acid catalysis are solid acids. These catalysts are heterogeneous catalysts and can be have the advantage of easy separation via filtration and can be reused without any significant losses in activity.¹⁴ Solid acids, notably metal oxides, can have both Brønsted acid sites and Lewis acid sites in the form of its hydroxide groups and its non-proton surface cations, respectively, but for the purpose of this thesis, only Brønsted acid sites, or its ability to donate/accept protons, will be the primary focus.²³

The ability for a solid acid catalyst to donate its proton can also be seen as the stability of its conjugate base, which in the case of oxides refers to the deprotonated oxygen. If the electron density is primarily concentrated within this oxygen, then its alkalinity, or its ability to abstract a proton from a proton source, increases accordingly. If a neighboring atom shifts some of this electron density away from the oxygen, then the negative charge becomes delocalized, stabilizing the conjugate base and increasing the acidity of the oxygen. Therefore, oxides with stronger surface acidities will tend to have higher cation electronegativity, which is dependent on the material factor.²⁴ The nature of an oxide material in solution depends on the nature of the bond, which in turn is effected by the electronegativity as well. If the difference in electronegativity between the metal and the oxygen is significantly high enough, then the oxide is held together via primarily ionic forces. If the electronegativity difference between the metal and the oxygen are much closer, then the oxide is considered to be a more covalently bonded solid. Under the context of a surface acidity, covalently bonded solids are the main focus because these shifts in electron density would not occur in ionic solids, which are held together via electrostatic forces rather than through electron delocalization.

These solid acids can also be further described in terms of the strength and number of these acid sites, and in terms of their morphology with regards to surface area and porosity.¹⁴ Furthermore, the acid strength and amount of the metal oxide generally increases with decreasing cationic radius, increasing cation charge, and increasing cation electronegativity.²⁴ In other words, this also means that in many cases, alongside the proton, the cation will often serve as a Lewis acid.

1.2.5 Surface Acidity and Mixed Oxides

The surface acidity of an oxide material can be further modified or even significantly enhanced by mixing it with another oxide.²⁵ In many cases, mixing oxides can not only add extra acid sites onto the surface, but it can increase the strength of those acid sites compared to their individual counterparts. For example, some combinations of oxides, such as titania-silica, silica-zirconia, also exhibit an increased number of acid sites with increased strength.²⁶

Shibata et. al noted that the acid strength of mixed oxides is correlated with their combined average electronegativities (Figure 7). The reason why the averaged electronegativity values correlate with acid strength has not been fully elucidated, but we believe that the phenomenon involves synergistic behavior between Lewis and Brønsted acidity. Much like how the Brønsted conjugate base of a superacid is stabilized by a Lewis acid, the Brønsted conjugate acid of an oxide surface may be stabilized by a nearby Lewis acid site. By having two high but dissimilar electronegativity values, the oxide moiety with the higher electronegativity can pull electrons towards itself more strongly, leaving the less electronegative oxide moiety with lower electron density, and thus have a higher Lewis acidity, which can then influence the stability of nearby conjugate base sites in the form of -O⁻ groups. For example, at the Ti-O-Si interface in titaniasilica gels, the higher electronegativity of the silicon ion relative to the titanium ion causes the former to be more electron accepting, shifting the electron cloud from the titanium onto the oxygen atom and further onto the silicon ion. While this would increase the Brønsted base character of the bridging oxygen ion, it would also the titanium ion would gain stronger Lewis acid character, allowing it to influence any free hydroxyl groups.²⁷

This change in electron density is similar to the inductive effect in organic chemistry, in which electron-donating or electron-withdrawing groups can affect the acidity of organic acids by



Figure 7: Highest acid strength of mixed oxides compared with their averaged electronegativity values.

affecting the stability of neighboring acid sites.²⁸ This phenomenon is also directly related to the electronegativity of the substituents, in which higher-electronegativity substituents can pull electron density from the conjugate base site, stabilizing it and increasing the acid strength. Studies on amorphous silica-alumina suggests that the Brønsted acidity of silanol groups (Si-OH) can be enhanced when they are in close proximity to less coordinated aluminum cation sites.^{29, 30} Another example of a mixed oxide superacid would be sulfated zirconia, in which the surface sites of zirconium oxide is filled with sulfate groups. Though sulfated zirconia is not strictly a mixture of two solid oxides, the nature of stabilization should still be the same as mentioned before: the zirconium cation acts as a Lewis acid for the oxygen groups in sulfate, stabilizing the general structure.³¹



Figure 8: Coordination numbers of each ion of SiO2-ZrO2 mixed oxide. When SiO2 is the major component, oxygen has a coordination number of 2. When ZrO2 is the major component, oxygen has a coordination of 4.

This phenomenon may extend to the general case of any combination of mixed oxide, in which the acidity of a hydroxide group attached to one oxide cation may be enhanced by the Lewis acidity of the other oxide cation.

In many cases, mixing oxides not only increases the acid strength, but it also increases the number of acid sites. Tanabe proposed a model of a binary mixed oxide which uses two assumptions. The first assumption is that the coordination of the cation of each component oxide is retained even when mixed. The second assumption is that the coordination of the oxygen anion is that of the major component oxide. Then, the oxygen anion and the minor component cation's valence is divided by their respective coordination numbers, and then added together. Any excess charges can be compensated by protons or by the presence of Lewis acidity. For example, on a SiO₂-ZrO₂ mixed oxide material, Si⁴⁺ has a coordination number of 4 while Zr⁴⁺ has a coordination number of 8. If the oxide is Si-rich, the oxygen has a coordination number of 2, and Zr⁴⁺ cation has a +4 valence that is spread out over 8 bonds (+4/8), while the oxygen has a -2 valence that is spread out over two bonds (-2/2). Therefore, at the Zr-O bond, the net charge is $+\frac{4}{8} - \frac{2}{2} = -\frac{1}{2}$.

Since there are 8 Zr-O bonds, the total net charge at the Zr moiety is -4, which can be compensated by adding four H⁺ ions. From Si-rich SiO₂-ZrO₂, Brønsted acidity is expected. In the case of a Zrrich SiO₂-ZrO₂ oxide, the Si cation has +4 valence spread over 4 bonds (+4/4) while the O anion has -2 valence spread over 4 bonds (-2/4), giving the net charge of $+\frac{4}{4} - \frac{2}{4} = +\frac{1}{2}$ at the Si-O bond. Since Si has four bonds, this equates to a total net charge of +2 on the Si, indicating Lewis acidity (**Figure 8**).³² This method of determining acidity has been effective for a large number of binary oxides tested, but this model is not useful for scientific discussion as it cannot take into account any changes that may be needed to balance the stoichiometry in the matrix.²⁵

Kung et. al introduced a different theory with the assumption that there is a dilute solid solution of cations A with stoichiometry AO_y substituting into an oxide B with stoichiometry BO_z, leading to two possible outcomes:

- 1. y equals z, substitution occurs with little effect on the matrix, and new acidity would be associated with the only electrostatic potential of the A site.
- 2. y does not equal z, substitution causes changes to the matrix, and new acidity would be associated with both this change and the electrostatic potential of the A site.

The difference in electrostatic potential of the substituting cation A can be determined by **Equation 3**:

$$\Delta V = \sum \left(\frac{q_i}{r_i}\right)_{BO_z} - \sum \left(\frac{q_i}{r_i}\right)_{AO_y}$$

Equation 3: Difference in electrostatic potential when a cation A from oxide AOy is substituted into oxide BOz

In which q_i is the charge of ion *i* located at a distance r_i from the A site. Essentially, **Equation 3** compares the electrostatic potential felt by cation A in an infinite 3D matrix of AO_y with that felt

	Form	nation of new acid site	
-	At substituting ion	In matrix	
Case	Lewis acid	Brønsted acid	Lewis acid
y < z	Yes	Yes	May be
y = z	Yes if BO ₂ more covalent	No	No
y > z	No	No	May be

Formation of new acid sites when substituting oxide AO_y in matrix BO_z according to the model of Kung (4).

Figure 9: Result of Kung's model for the formation of new acid sites when adding oxide AOy moieties to matrix BOz

by cation A in an infinite matrix of BO_z . If ΔV is negative, then the cation feels a more negative potential in B than in A and is thus electrostatically more stable and can accept electrons more easily. This would make the A site act as a Lewis acid site.

When there is a stoichiometry mismatch, the matrix will change so as to restore stoichiometry. When y < z, the formal oxidation state of A in AO_y will be less than that of B in BO_z and there will be an excess of oxygen in the matrix. To restore the charge caused by this imbalance, substitution can develop in anion vacancies or proton adsorption onto the surface, which is just Brønsted acidity. When y > z, the formal oxidation state of A will be higher than that of B, and there will be an oxygen deficiency in the matrix. Then, substitution can result in adsorption of negative anions like oxygen or OH⁻ on the A cation. A summary of the results can be viewed in **Figure 9**.³³

Kung's model is also limited in that it assumes that the substituting ion A is surrounded by an infinitely large BO_z matrix, and that other AO_y moieties would not contribute to any change in the electrostatic potential that the A ion would feel. However, it has been shown to be still very effective at predicting binary oxide behavior while being more scientifically intuitive.

1.2.6 Zeolites

One of the most well studied examples of mixed oxide acid catalysts is zeolites, which are silica-alumina mixed oxides with microporosity (pore diameter < 2 nm).³⁴ While silica or alumina alone do not have the necessary acidity to perform reactions such as hydrocracking or dehydrogenation, mixing them into these zeolites creates a significant number of Brønsted sites with the necessary strength to do so.³⁵ Viewing **Figure 7**, Si-Al oxide mixtures have one of the highest possible acid strengths for binary mixed oxides, as well as one of the highest possible combined electronegativities. In zeolites, the active acid site was well established to be the bridging oxygen in the Al-O-Si groups. This high acidity as well as the small pore size allows zeolites to be selective with its substrate size, allowing for high activity and selectivity.³⁶

However, there may also be other factors that can contribute to high acidity: Al-O-Si bridging groups in non-microporous silica-alumina composites do not exhibit the same kind of acidity. Instead, the acid sites are the silanol (Si-OH) groups that are near unsaturated Al centers. While this is similar to the bridging Al-O-Si sites, these silanol groups are much more mobile compared to the more rigid sites of the former. The most likely reason for this discrepancy is due to the porosity of zeolites: the small pore size prevents solvent molecules from moving freely, reducing the stabilizing effect that solvation can have on the donated protons.³⁷

1.3 Surface Charge

Surface acidity can manifest itself via another surface-related phenomenon: surface charge. Proton transfers between the surface and the solution will inevitably lead to surface charge: from the exchange of protons between the surface and the solution, charged species will form from these sites. Starting from a neutral metal oxide surface with neutrally charged hydroxide groups on the



Figure 10: Oxide surface charges as a function of pH. The solution can exchange its protons to the oxide surface, creating $-OH_2^+$ or OH^- moieties that give the surface a positive or negative charge, respectively.

surface, an sufficiently acidic environment around the surface would impart protons onto the OH groups, creating $-OH_2^+$ groups and creating a positively charge surface. A sufficiently basic environment around the surface would abstract protons from the OH groups, creating $-O^-$ groups that would give the surface a more negative charge (**Figure 10**).

1.3.1 Surface Charge Models

As these charges begin to build onto the particle surface, ions of opposite charge, known as counterions, are attracted to the surface while ions of the same charge, known as coions are repelled from it. This combination of the surface and the excess of neutralizing counterions surrounding the surface creates what is known as an electric double layer.^{24, 38} In order to explain the electrokinetic phenomena that result from this electric double layer, Helmholtz likened this electric double layer to a parallel plate capacitor with surface electric potential ψ_0 , in which the counterions are arranged parallel to the surface. The distance between plates is given by δ , which was estimated to be roughly the radius of a counterion, and the surface potential decreases linearly across δ (**Figure 11**). But the Helmholtz model is limited: for instance, later research uncovered a layer of water molecules that remains bounded to the surface which moves as the particle does,



Figure 11: Helmholtz model of the electric double layer. Based off of a parallel plate capacitor, the surface electric potential $\psi 0$ decreases with distance δ and is thicker than the Helmholtz double layer. With the Helmholtz model, this bound water layer

should not exist due to the neutrality of the proposed double layer.

To address the unresolved problems in the Helmholtz model, Gouy and Chapman added an assumption that the counterions are influenced by electrostatic forces and thermal motion. As a result, the counterions are distributed more diffusely, rather than in a parallel manner. Consequently, the concentration of excess counterions decreases with distance from the surface, and the electric surface potential decreases more gradually instead of linearly (**Figure 12**). This allows room for water molecules to solvate the counterions, which is what creates this bound water layer on the surface of the particle. The boundary between this water layer and the rest of the solution is called the shear plane, and the electric potential at the surface of the shear plane is known as the zeta potential, ζ .³⁹







Change of the electric potential of diffuse double layer.

Figure 12: Gouy-Chapman model of the electric double layer. Unlike the Helmholtz layer, the counterion concentration is more dispersed, with a higher concentration and electric surface potential near the surface.

1.3.2 Isoelectric Point

The magnitude of the zeta potential is dependent on the pH of the solution, as the acidity of the solution relative to the surface can change the surface hydroxyl groups into negative -O⁻ moieties, neutral -OH moieties, or positive -OH₂⁺ moieties.⁴⁰ Additionally, the pH of the solution can then be adjusted such the zeta potential can reach zero from the positive charges and negative charges balancing out. This pH level is called the isoelectric point and due to its dependence on the acid-base sites, varies with the material factor and can be indicative of the acidic properties of the surface. The zeta potential of a surface can be measured using electrophoretic light scattering methods. Charged particles are dispersed in water and inserted into specialized bent capillary tubes with electrodes. When a voltage is applied, these charged particles will move towards the electrode with opposite charge: a particle with a net positive surface charge will drift towards a negatively charged electrode. As this electric field is applied, a laser beam is split, one of which is shined through the cuvette and the other of which is used as a reference beam. The mobile particles will scatter this light at a different frequency than the original laser which is proportional to the speed of the particles (Doppler Effect). This scattered light will then be recombined with the other split



Figure 13: Schematic of the zeta potential measuring process. The split light beam entering the sample has its frequency changed due to the mobility of the particles scattering the light.
beam to determine the Doppler shift, which is used to calculate the magnitude of the particle velocity. From this particle velocity, the zeta potential of the particles can be determined (Figure 13).⁴¹

1.3.3 Mixed Oxides and Isoelectric Point

Additionally, when different oxide materials are mixed, it appears that the isoelectric point of the new material lies somewhere between the isoelectric point of the two pure oxide materials. This new isoelectric point can be expressed as a function of the isoelectric points of the pure materials and their relative surface coverages (**Equation 4**).⁴²⁻⁴⁴ Given a mixed oxide material composed of oxides A and B, the isoelectric point of the mixed material is the linear combination

$$IEP = IEP_A * X_A + IEP_B * X_B = \sum_n IEP_n * X_n$$

Equation 4: Isoelectric point of binary oxide materials, given oxide materials A and B



Figure 14: Isoelectric point changes of ZrO2 mixed with increasing amounts of La2O3. The La2O3 is assumed to be covering the ZrO2 as a monolayer up to 3% La2O3, and then forms multilayer agglomerates beyond that.

of each material's isoelectric point multiplied by the fraction of the surface covered by that material. This equation can also be extended to materials that are composed of more than two oxides.⁴² For example, Salinas et. al mixed ZrO₂ with increasing amounts of La₂O₃ to investigate the latter's influence on the mixed oxide's ability to produce biodiesel from canola oil. For pure ZrO₂, the isoelectric point was determined to be around 3.4, and the isoelectric point increases with increasing amounts of La₂O₃. Using **Equation 4**, Salinas assumed that the surface is composed of a La₂O₃ monolayer covering a ZrO₂ surface up to 3% La₂O₃ loading, which contributes to the change in isoelectric point as seen in **Figure 14**.

Equation 4 implies that the surface acid sites of material A operate independently from those of material B. In the case where there are significantly large surface "patches" of A or B (as



Figure 15: Different structures of oxides A and B mixed: (Left) regions of unmixed oxide, allowing for surface regions of only A and only B. Interfacial effects are more negligible. (Right) Homogeneously mixed oxide surface. Interfacial effects are more significant.

in Salinas's work), that may be more accurate, as a surface site of oxide A is more likely to be surrounded by other A oxide moieties while the acid sites located at the interface of A and B can be largely ignored. But in the case of a more homogeneously mixed oxide, the number of interfacial acid sites can be significantly higher, and so they may play a much larger role in affecting the surface chemistry (**Figure 15**). I believe that **Equation 4** is therefore insufficient to fully describe the surface of a mixed oxide and may need to be modified in the future.

1.4 Surface Acidity and Isoelectric Point of Mixed Oxides

The surface acidity and the isoelectric point of a material are two properties that manifest from the interactions between a material surface and the solution phase, yet experimentally, it seems unclear as to how these properties are connected. In mixed oxides, the isoelectric point of a mixed oxide is an intermediate value between its two pure component materials, depending on the relative concentrations of each at the surface. As mentioned before, **Equation 4** assumes that the oxide components do not interact with each other, and consequently that the Brønsted acidity of each respective acid site does not change. However, a mixed oxide will inevitably have some sort of interaction at the interface between oxide species. This is demonstrated by the earlier discussion of increased acidity/superacidity with mixed oxides: if mixed oxides are assumed to not interact,

then their acid strengths should exist somewhere in between the respective oxides. Yet many mixed oxides exhibit acid strength greater than their individual counterparts, implying some sort of interaction between the materials.

The difficulty in characterizing these mixed oxide acid sites comes from the synthetic methods involved in their fabrication. In these prior studies regarding the surface chemistry of mixed oxides, the oxides are often synthesized into homogeneously mixed oxides using liquid-phase reactions, or in some cases, uncontrolled vapor phase deposition methods.^{26, 30} These traditional methods, combined with the inherent disorder present on the surface of nanoparticles, result in poor control over the condensation of the oxide sites.⁹ In zeolites, for example, the zeta potential behavior is very complex due to the non-uniformity of surface sites, in both morphology and acid strength.

1.5 Atomic Layer Deposition

Atomic layer deposition (ALD) can be used to address this issue of poor control over the synthesis process. ALD is a vapor phase deposition technique which introduces precursor gases sequentially to a surface (**Figure 16**). The process begins by introducing a precursor which binds only onto a substrate surface. As the precursor only reacts to the surface and not itself, this process is self-limiting, theoretically coating up to a single monolayer onto the surface. This step is then followed by an initial purge to remove any unreacted precursor and byproduct. Afterwards, the substrate is exposed to a co-reactant precursor, which also reacts only with the newly covered surface, depositing another self-limited layer of material and priming the surface to react with the first precursor. The reactor chamber is purged again to remove the second coreactant, and the first precursor is reintroduced to restart the ALD cycle.⁴⁵ The self-limiting chemistry of the precursor



Figure 16: Schematic of the ALD process. a) the precursor molecules react with active sites on the surface. b) a purge step removes unreacted precursor and by-products of the reaction. c) a co-reactant is introduced, reacting with the new active surface sites. d) another purge step removes the unreacted precursor and by-products.

enables excellent control of the thickness, while allowing for conformal coating onto irregular surfaces.

Xia et. al investigated the isoelectric point of thin film oxides deposited via ALD. In his work, he deposited a comprehensive variety of oxide materials onto silicon wafers and examined their zeta potentials. From that work, he demonstrated that the isoelectric point of each deposited oxide film matches that of the pure oxide material, with a few justified exceptions. However, the thin films in work are over 5 nm thick, and the interface between the native oxide and the deposited ALD layer would not be investigated.⁴⁶ Additionally, these depositions were done on flat silicon wafers, but heterogeneous catalysis is often done with high surface area powders rather than large flat surfaces.

1.5.1 Powder ALD



Figure 17: Representation of a 2 cm deep crucible filled with uncoated powder arranged in a simple cubic arrangement. The depth of particles that becomes coated (dark blue) is displayed as a function of time. The entire bed of powder becomes coated after about 27 hours under 10 mbar of trimethyl aluminum precursor.

Due to the reliability of ALD to coat ultrathin films on conformal surfaces, it is a potential option to evenly coat films onto nanoparticles as well. However, many lab-scale reactors are usually fixed-bed reactors, in which the powder remains static.⁴⁷ In these types of reactors, hold steps must be added to the ALD process to allow time for the precursor to diffuse between the interstitial spaces between the powders. **Figure 17** shows that for 10 mbar of trimethylaluminum above a crucible holding a 2 cm tall pile of powder arranged in a simple cubic manner, it will take 27 hours for the precursor to fully coat the powder. Decreasing the powder thickness to 1 mm will decrease this hold time to 4 min, showing that conformal powder coatings can be done at least in a laboratory setting.⁴⁸

Of course, for industrial purposes, fluidized or rotary bed reactors are the reactors of choice for powder ALD, as they can agitate the powders and allow unreacted surfaces to be exposed to the precursor.⁴⁸ However, in porous materials such as zeolites or mesoporous materials such as SBA-15 or A300 silica, hold times would still have to be employed to allow the precursor to diffuse through the pore length.

A few experiments for powder ALD and surface acidity have been done before with studies of ALD-deposited silica and alumina to investigate their acidic properties for catalysis.^{9, 49} In one notable study, Canlas et. al showed that when silica was functionalized with one cycle of alumina followed by multiple cycles of silica, the Lewis acidity of the surface increased and the Brønsted acidity decreased when the number of silica ALD cycles increased. Additionally, the Brønsted acidity was determined to be caused by the interaction between the silanol present on the silica and an adjacent uncoordinated alumina ion was responsible for stronger acidity of the silanol.⁹

1.6 Statement of Purpose

Powder ALD used directly to prepare catalytic materials is still an application that remains fairly unexplored. Due to the excellent control over the thickness of the films, a single monolayer of oxide material can be deposited and analyzed, such that the active sites of acid catalysis can be isolated and identified.⁴⁹ Therefore, with ALD, we should be able to isolate and expose the interface between the base substrate and the deposited material. But there can still be issues when it comes to the deposition process, and this thesis will first talk about these complications that can arise when performing powder ALD on a fixed bed reactor. The results of these findings are primarily applied for laboratory scale fixed bed ALD systems and are not necessarily useful for fluidized/rotary bed reactors when applied to solid nonporous powders. However, these results can also be applied to any type of reactor when using high surface area porous powders, as particle agitation does not affect pore diffusion as much.

Furthermore, this thesis will demonstrate the changes in the surface charge of oxide materials as a function of sub-nanometer thickness of ALD-deposited material. According to the literature, the atomic interface of two different oxide materials is assumed to have a negligible effect on the zeta potential. However, the existence of mixed oxides seems to indicate that some sort of interaction does indeed exist at this interface.^{42, 50-53} The work in this thesis will be work to resolve this discrepancy, and is possible due to the ability for ALD to controllably deposit material onto the surface.

2. Experimental Methods

2.1 Atomic Layer Deposition Recipe



Figure 18: Schematic of the ALD setup within the reactor tube. The powder is on top of a mesh within a glass cylinder.

ALD was conducted in a horizontal flow tube hot-walled reactor chamber. The powder was placed on a fine steel mesh, which was then placed inside a 0.81 in. inner diameter glass cylinder and placed horizontally in the reactor (**Figure 18**). The purpose of the steel mesh was to allow the precursor gas to come into contact with the powder pile from underneath, essentially halving the powder "height" and allowing the gas to penetrate into the powder bulk more quickly.

When the powder was in the reactor tube, the chamber was then purged with ultrahigh purity nitrogen for 1 hour to remove remnant moisture in the chamber and on the powder surface. The chamber was subsequently pumped down and isolated. Titanium tetrachloride (TiCl₄) was



Figure 19: Two-dose recipe for coating powders via ALD

then dosed into the chamber for five seconds, and the chamber was isolated again for 60 seconds. This was then followed up with a purge and pump down step, and a second TiCl₄ dose with a 300 second isolation time. This same process was repeated but with a 1-second dose of water instead of a 5-second dose of TiCl₄ (**Figure 19**). This double precursor dose step was performed due to the formation of HCl byproducts created from the reactor walls, the glass cylinder, and to a lesser extent, the powder. By performing an initial dose step, the bulk of the HCl byproduct can be removed from the chamber, preventing it from hampering film growth onto the powders. Additionally, the chamber wall and the glass cylinder become passivated, allowing the second dose of precursor to react with the powder rather than the walls and the glass.

Once the powder was removed from the reactor, it was washed in distilled water and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 3 minutes. Powders that aggregated in water were sonicated to break down the aggregates. This step is repeated for a total of three times before the powder is dried in

a furnace. Samples were then allocated for surface charge/chemistry analysis and elemental analysis such as Scanning Electron Microscopy – Electron Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy (SEM-EDX) and X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS).

2.2 Mass Titration

After the powder is washed, it is then redispersed in a 0.01M KNO₃ solution at pH 7. To produce this solution, KNO₃ salt was dissolved in distilled water to produce a stock 0.01M KNO₃ solution. A portion of this stock solution was taken, and its pH was adjusted using HNO₃ and KOH salt until the desired pH was achieved. The pH was measured using an Orion pH electrode from Thermo-Fischer, calibrated with pH 4, 7, and 10 buffers.

2.3 Zeta Potential Analysis

To make samples for zeta potential analysis, solutions of varying pH must be prepared first. As with the KNO₃ solution at pH 7, 0.01M KNO₃ solution was made first, and then portions were separated to create solutions of a desired pH. For this experiment, KNO₃ solutions of pH 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 were produced.

5 mg of powder was dispersed into 10 mL of the solution of the desired pH and sonicated for 30 minutes to break down aggregates. These samples were then injected into specialized Malvern DTS1070 cuvettes and inserted into the Malvern Zetasizer Nano ZS to be analyzed. The temperature was set to 25°C, and three distinct measurements were taken, with a 10 second delay between each measurement. After analysis of each sample, the dispersion was removed and the cuvette was rinsed to remove any particles and acid/base remnants.

3. Modeling Thickness and Ti Atomic Percent

3.1 Particle ALD and Hold Time



%Ti vs Hold Time



When powder is exposed to precursor, it should take time for the powder to be able to diffuse through the interstitial spaces between the particles. In order to ensure powders were sufficiently coated per step, we varied TiCl₄ hold times on silicon oxide powder and determined their relative Ti atomic percents. As seen in **Figure 20**, the amount of titanium as detected by SEM-EDX has not changed significantly. XPS was not employed for this step due to the relatively shallow depth of analysis (~5 nm) whereas SEM-EDX can analyze samples at a much lower depth (up to 2 microns).⁵⁴

$$t_m = \left[\frac{MW}{(N_A * \rho)^{\frac{1}{3}}}\right]$$

Equation 5: Estimated thickness of one monolayer of material given the density (r), molecular weight (MW), and Avogadro's number (N_A)

The thickness of one monolayer of TiO₂, t_m , can be estimated using **Equation 5**, where MW is the molecular weight (79.87 g/mol for TiO₂), N_A is Avogadro's number, and ρ is the density of the material (2.9-3.9 g/cm³ for TiO₂). With these parameters, the thickness of one monolayer of TiO₂ is estimated to be ~0.32-0.35 nm. Since the growth per cycle (GPC) of TiCl₄ is estimated to be about 0.5Å per cycle, TiCl₄ and H₂O based ALD should achieve full surface coverage in seven cycles.

Given the thickness of one monolayer of TiO_2 , it is then possible to approximate the atomic percent of titanium relative to the silica. Assuming a core-shell spherical geometry for the nanopowders and that the titanium coats evenly onto the powders, we can calculate the volume of the titanium oxide shell and the silicon oxide core given the radius of the latter.

At first, calculating the volume alone may not appear to be sufficient to determine the atomic concentrations of Ti and Si relative to each other, due to their differences in density and molar mass. However, given these values, we can calculate the molar volumes of titanium oxide and silicon oxide:

 $Molar Volume = \frac{Molar mass}{Density}$



Relevant Constants and Equations:

- Density of amorphous TiO₂: 3.7 g/cm³
- Density of amorphous SiO₂: 2.65 g/cm³
- Molar mass of TiO₂: 60.08 g/mol
- Molar mass of SiO₂: 79.87 g/mol

Volume of Sphere:
$$\frac{4}{3}\pi r^3$$

Figure 21: Spherical growth model and formulas required to calculate the relative atomic percentages of Ti and Si given the thickness of a vapor deposited layer.

From the relevant constants and equations given in **Figure 21**, the molar volume of TiO_2 is 21.58 cm³/mol and the molar volume of SiO_2 is 22.67 cm³/mol. These values are close enough to each other such that we could assume that the use of volume to approximate the relative atomic amounts of Ti and Si is a fairly accurate method.

We can then determine the volume of the shell by subtracting the volume of the entire coreshell sphere (radius r_2) from that of the core itself (radius r_1). Additionally, we now introduce a proportionality constant χ , which represents the atomic ratio of titanium to silicon. This χ is multiplied by the volume of the silicon oxide to also yield the volume of the titanium oxide shell. In other words, by knowing the radius of the silicon oxide core and the thickness of one monolayer of TiO₂, we can determine how much Ti is in the latter. This yields **Equation 6**:

$$\frac{4}{3}\pi r_2^3 - \frac{4}{3}\pi r_1^3 = Vol_{TiO_2} = \chi * \frac{4}{3}\pi r_1^3$$

Equation 6: Volume of TiO2 based on a spherical nanoparticle geometry

$$(A): r_2^3 = (1 + \chi)r_1^3$$
$$(B): (a' * b' * c') = (1 + \chi)(a * b * c)$$

Equation 7: (A) Simplified form of **Equation 6**. (B) Generalized form of (A), in which a, b, and c are volume-related parameters of the SiO₂ while a', b', and c' are the volume-related parameters of the TiO₂ coated SiO₂



Figure 22: Growth on convex vs concave shapes. In the former, the shape is retained due to growth vectors (arrowed) not intersecting. In concave geometries, the intersecting growth directions can significantly change the final shape.

Removing the common terms, **Equation 6** can then be simplified into **Equation 7A**. Furthermore, assuming that the particle retains its shape before and after deposition, **Equation 7A** can be generalized for many convex shapes, yielding **Equation 7B**.

However, in layer-by-layer growth on convex shapes, the growth direction vectors as seen in **Figure 22** do not intersect with each other. In concave structures, the growth directions do intersect with each other, complicating growth and rendering the structure unable to retain its exact shape. For ultra-thin layers (relative to the original particle shape), **Equation 7B** can still be used as a good approximation because the difference in shape can be considered negligible. But as more layers are deposited onto the surface, the shape becomes distorted, and **Equation 7** cannot be applied. As seen in **Figure 22**, a concave figure such as a three quarters circle does not stay as such upon a thick deposited layer, and the formula for the new volume must be different as well. In the case of the three-quarters circle, the estimated amount of Ti should be much higher than from **Equation 7**. This discrepancy in Ti content is also inconsistent: other geometries may result in a lower estimated amount of Ti than is suggested from **Equation 7**. In short, if the growth direction vectors do not intersect with each other, then the particle maintains its shape and its volume equation during growth, making **Equation 7** valid; if the growth directions do intersect, then the particle cannot maintain its shape and volume equation, making **Equation 7** insufficient to determine the Ti atomic percent.

Applying this logic to this thesis, while many of our silicon oxide powders may be convex in shape, the particles are packed and piled together, which would give the powder as a whole a "concave" geometry during ALD growth. For thin layers of TiO₂, we anticipated that the calculated Ti atomic percent would be very close to that of our measured Ti atomic percent. For highthickness films (within the same magnitude as the radius of the particle or greater), the Ti content is expected to be less than what was calculated.

The silicon oxide powder has an average diameter of 20 nm, so the core radius is 10 nm. One monolayer of TiO₂ is assumed to be about 0.35 nm, so the radius of the entire shell is 10.35 nm. Solving for χ , we get a 0.108 Ti to Si fraction, which translates to about 9.8% Ti and 91.2% Si (ignoring oxygen). The assumptions used to calculate this fraction were based on a layer-by-layer growth model and may not represent exactly what is happening on this powder surface.

3.3 Elemental Analysis: SEM-EDX and XPS



Figure 23: Calculated Ti atomic percent (red triangle) compared to experimentally determined values.

Through SEM-EDX, we can see that the titanium concentration increases with increasing TiCl₄ cycle numbers (**Figure 23**). The threshold of a single monolayer appears to be achieved at less than 5 TiCl₄ cycles, which has an atomic percent of 14.5%. Through quantitative analysis via XPS, we have also seen a similar trend for the Ti atomic percent up until 80 cycles, upon which the amount of Ti detected via XPS becomes significantly higher than that detected via SEM. Finally at 160 cycles, XPS detected no silicon in the sample (100% Ti) whereas the SEM detected some silica. This result is expected to some degree because the probing depth of XPS only goes down to about 5 nm, and with a growth rate of 0.5Å per cycle and at 160 cycles, we would reach a TiO₂ film thickness of about 8 nm, burying the silicon oxide layer underneath.



Figure 24: Corrected calculated Ti atomic percent (red triangle) compared to experimentally determined values.

The nominal Ti atomic percent was calculated as a function of the number of TiCl₄ cycles based on the previously created model. Compared to this function, the actual Ti atomic percent as determined via SEM shows an abrupt spike at 1 TiCl₄, and then parallels the curve well at low cycle numbers but begins to diverge at higher cycle numbers (**Figure 24**). This initial spike at 1 TiCl₄ may be attributed to the fact that the silica surface has many hydroxyl surface groups onto which the TiCl₄ can easily react with. Because hydroxyl group formation on titanium oxide surfaces is less thermodynamically favorable, fewer hydroxide surface sites will form on new surfaces, which can slow growth significantly beyond the first step.⁵⁵ In other words, the first monolayer is easily formed, but subsequently layers will not deposit as easily. Taking this into account, we arbitrarily added 7 Ti at. % to all points in the calculation curve, simulating the formation of a near-complete monolayer of TiO₂ on the SiO₂ surface. Doing so allows the calculated Ti atomic percent to align much more precisely with the SEM-EDX analyzed data at low cycle numbers.

Atomic Ti% =
$$\left(\frac{\chi}{\chi+1} + \alpha\right) * 100$$

or
Atomic Ti% = $\left(1 - \frac{r_1^3}{r_2^3} + \alpha\right) * 100$
 $\chi = Ti/Si \ ratio$
 $\alpha = Atomic \% \ surface \ sites \ of \ substrate$

Equation 8: Ti atomic percent calculated based on current data. α is the number of surface sites and is dependent on the material factor.

The divergence in trend from the calculated Ti atomic percent is also consistent with our predictions: the amount of Ti detected would be less than what was calculated due to the concavity in the powder interstitial spaces interfering with the growth. At low cycle numbers, in which the thicknesses of the films are significantly less than that of the silica particle radius $(r_2 - r_1 \ll r_1)$ we can still accurately approximate the volume of the coated particle using the same volume formulas. At high cycle numbers, the film thicknesses become comparable, if not greater than that of the silica particle radius $(r_2 - r_1 \approx r_1)$ and the formulas used to determine the volume of the original silica particle cannot be used to determine the coated particle. Looking at **Figure 24**, the model fits the experimental data well up to 20 cycles, which is about equivalent to a 1 nm thick layer. Ultimately, the model that can establish the relationship between the titanium atomic percent and the relative thickness of the film can be determined for ultrathin films by using **Equation 8**.

3.4 Elemental Analysis: Chlorine

In addition, on **Figure 25**, we see that chlorine has been identified on pre-washed samples (except for 5-cycle TiCl₄), but not on washed samples. The chlorine source can either be TiCl₄ or HCl, but TiCl₄ would not the source of the chlorine, due to its reactivity with the water vapor in



Atomic Percent of Ti and Cl in Pre- and Post-washed Samples

Figure 25: Elemental analysis of TiCl4 deposited powders before and after washing cycles.

air. This leaves HCl to be the most likely candidate for this chlorine peak, as HCl was most likely physisorbed onto the sample surface and was easily washed away after three washing cycles.

Even with washing steps, however, chlorine is still detected to significant amounts (> 1 at. %) at high cycle numbers. While the chlorine percent did decrease after washing, chlorine was still retained to some degree. While it is unclear what or where this chlorine is, it seems unlikely that this chlorine is from any surface HCl, as low-cycle powders had their chlorine signals removed after washing. It is possible that this chlorine signal came from unreacted chlorine groups that are trapped within the TiO₂ layers and are unexposed to the surface.

The presence of chlorine after ALD highlights the importance of considering the reagents used as well as the side products that develop during the ALD process. Precursors such as trimethyl



Figure 26: Elemental analysis of higher cycle post-washed samples. Chlorine is still retained after washing

aluminum (TMA), whose byproducts are stable and volatile, are not problematic as the byproducts will not adsorb onto the surface. However, ALD with TiCl₄ and water as the co-reactants creates HCl as a byproduct, which can additionally severely affect film growth during the reaction process by adsorbing on reaction sites, blocking them from further interaction with new precursor.⁵⁶ As a result, precautions and post-treatment steps must be employed in order to ensure that the presence of HCl does not negatively affect the state of the final product. More specifically, the partial pressure of this HCl vapor is increased significantly when precursor is added to the chamber, again due to the chamber walls, glass cylinder, and from the sample itself. It is for this reason that we performed a two-dose step as mentioned in the experimental section: the first precursor dose step would be used primarily to react with the easy-to-access walls and glass cylinder, leaving behind a passivated layer. The second dose step would then be employed, with the majority of the reactions happening within the bulk of the sample powder, without concerns of externally produced HCl affecting film growth rate. Because of this two-dose ALD setup, we can conclude



Figure 27: Mass titration curves of TiCl4 deposited alumina particles before and after washing in water that the HCl seen in SEM-EDX is primarily from the byproducts of the precursor reacting with the powder.

Mass titration experiments were briefly performed early on, and alumina was chosen as the sample due to its isoelectric point being in the relatively basic range (over pH 7), and any changes in its isoelectric point. During these initial experiments, a faulty valve caused TiCl₄ precursor to be released at significantly lower pressures than was expected, and therefore very little titanium was observed through spectroscopic methods. As titanium was not present with the initial batch of powders, it should be expected that the isoelectric point of the alumina surface from mass titration (at around 8-9) should not be near that of titania (around 4-5). However, pre-washed powders have been observed to have a significantly lower pH compared to its post-washed counterparts, with a pH of roughly 4.5. The reduction in pH cannot be attributed to an ALD deposited TiO₂ surface, due to the lack of titanium observed on the powders, but rather to the HCl byproducts that remained

on the surface and dissociated upon dispersion in water (**Figure 26**). We hypothesized that what little TiCl₄ that did enter the reactor chamber reacted with the chamber walls first, releasing HCl that then adsorbed onto the powder surface. The increase upon washing is associated with the removal of these HCl groups in solution.





Zeta Potential vs pH: 0 - 40 Cycles TiCl4

Figure 28: Zeta potential with different layers of TiCl₄ on SiO₂, from 0 - 160 cycles

4.1 Zeta Potential

The isoelectric of mixed oxides has been previously determined as the average of the isoelectric points weighted by their apparent surface coverage (**Equation 4**).¹⁸ However, this equation assumes that the individual oxide moieties act independently from one another. From this equation, we should then predict that a single layer of material deposited over a substrate via ALD should have complete apparent surface coverage of the former rather than the latter. Therefore, upon depositing a single monolayer, the isoelectric point should immediately switch from that of the substrate surface to that of the deposited material.

If there is no interaction between the titania and the native oxide, it should be expected that the isoelectric point of the powders should first change gradually from the native surface to a titania surface up the first monolayer. Then at one monolayer of TiCl₄, the isoelectric point should have reached that of a titanium oxide surface and should not change with the addition of more layers.

First, we can see that in **Figure 27**, the curves shift upwards as the number of layers increases. While SiO_2 (0 TiCl₄ sample) appears to have an isoelectric point below 2 since it does not intersect at all with the x axis in this graph, it is stated in literature to be almost impossible to be able to achieve a positive zeta potential silica and that its true isoelectric point hovers at a pH of around 2-3.^{57, 58}

Figure 28 shows the isoelectric point as a function of the Ti atomic percent as determined via SEM- EDX. The graph has additional vertical dashed red lines that represent one monolayer: at 9.8 at.% the first monolayer is completely deposited, while the second monolayer is deposited at 18.3 at.%, etc. Some variation in the measurement of the isoelectric point is expected, due to the sensitivity of zeta potential to surface impurities and other imperfections. Nevertheless, it reaffirms



Figure 29: Isoelectric point as a function of Ti at. %. The vertical red dashed lines represent one monolayer each.

that is still an upward trend of the isoelectric point as the Ti atomic percent increases. Contrary to the hypothesis that a single monolayer will completely change the isoelectric point and will not do so upon the deposition of further layers, we can see that the isoelectric point tends to stabilize after about three monolayers of TiO_2 have been added. This phenomenon appears to be like the inductive effect, in that the SiO_2 moiety acts as the "heteroatom" to the TiO_2 surface, drawing electron density away from the Ti cation and affecting its acid properties due to the former's higher electronegativity. Moreover, the effects of the SiO_2 moiety on the TiO_2 moiety disappears after a few monolayers have been deposited, paralleling the behavior of inductive effect which becomes less pronounced with increasing distance from the heteroatom.

4.2 Potential Active Sites

To identify the possible acid sites responsible for creating the charged surface, we must first look at all the possible sites for proton exchange. In **Figure 29**, we have identified the following: pure Si-OH, bridging Si-O-Si, interfacial Si-OH, bridging Si-O-Ti, interfacial Ti-OH, and pure Ti-OH. The bridging oxygen groups are unlikely to be acid sites, since they are formed by consuming the hydrogen during ALD and would not likely be protonated unless the surface is in very acidic conditions. This leaves us with the pure oxide-OH groups and the interfacial oxide-OH groups. As the number of cycles increases, the contribution of each type of oxide-OH will change. Prior to deposition, the surface would only be composed of pure Si-OH groups. As the first layer of TiO₂ is deposited, the surface acidity is then a mix of pure Si-OH, interfacial Si-OH, and interfacial Ti-OH. Once the first monolayer is deposited, only the interfacial Ti-OH groups remain. More TiO₂ deposits onto the surface, shifting the surface more towards a TiO₂-like surface.



Figure 30: Possible acid sites that can exchange protons with the solution to create surface charges. Bridging oxygen sites are unlikely to be acid sites.

Eventually, there should be enough TiO_2 piling onto the surface to create a "pure" TiO_2 surface with a corresponding isoelectric point.

Given the current behavior of the isoelectric point of ultrathin ALD-deposited films of varying thickness, it is clear that the underlying substrate can have a profound effect on the chemistry of the newly deposited layers. Therefore, **Equation 4**, which assumes that mixed binary oxides do not interfere with each other, must be changed upon in order to compensate for these mixing interactions.

5. Conclusions and Future Work

5.1 Conclusions

The first aim of this thesis was to highlight the complications that arise when performing fixed-bed powder ALD. The most notable problem was the adsorbed byproducts (HCl) from TiCl₄ deposition on the surface of the silica powder. On a flat surface such as a silicon wafer, adsorbed HCl can easily desorb given proper purging procedures and therefore is not an issue in semiconductor wafer applications. However, for the direct synthesis of catalysts with high surface area, adsorption of byproducts can affect the surface chemistry or even prevent film growth. In the case with our experiments, this HCl has directly affected the measurements of the isoelectric point when we were performing mass titrations.

Another complication which is related to the first was the reaction of the precursor with the reactor chamber itself. Since the precursor can react to the walls, it can produce an even higher concentration of byproducts, which further increases the likelihood of adsorbed products onto the substrate surface. To address these problems, we first implemented a two-dose step for each precursor per cycle. The first dose is a quick step that has the precursor react with the reactor chamber walls and can purge the byproducts of that reaction. The second dose is a long hold step that allows the precursor to infiltrate into the powder sample without concerns about HCl byproducts from the walls.

Even with the two-dose step, HCl will still be present due to the reaction of TiCl₄ with the powder, albeit at significantly lower concentrations. While the solution is not perfect as it cannot prevent adsorbed HCl from stunting further growth, we have added a post-processing washing step that can at least remove any HCl remaining on the surface after deposition. All in all, not every ALD precursor will necessarily produce byproducts that adsorb strongly to the surface –

Trimethylaluminum (TMA) produces methane gas which would never adsorb onto the silica surface – but this issue should be considered when using any ALD precursor, especially when depositing on powders.

In addition, we have created a geometry-independent equation that models the growth of thin films onto convex powder via ALD. Using this equation, we may be able to calculate film thicknesses via their respective atomic percentages in SEM-EDX, which is facile and noninvasive. This model can correlate thickness with atomic percent well for films that are significantly thinner than the diameter of the particle. For films that are comparable to the powder thicknesses (at least within an order of magnitude), this equation falls off, and will overestimate the actual Ti amount due to concavity present from the powders packing together.

The second aim of this thesis was to observe the changes in the isoelectric point of SiO_2 powder as a function of the number of ALD cycles of TiCl₄.

Our initial hypothesis was that the isoelectric point would reach that of pure TiO_2 upon reaching 20 cycles, or two monolayers. This hypothesis runs counter to the literature-based formula of the isoelectric point of mixed oxides, which would assume that a full monolayer of $TiCl_4$ would result in the isoelectric point completely shifting to that of pure TiO_2 . However, based on the currently established models, the isoelectric point still transitions even after 80 cycles, or equivalent of four monolayers.

5.2 Future Work

This work represents the first step in understanding the surface properties of ultra-thin oxide films deposited onto powders through ALD. The titania-silica interface is just one combination of materials that can exhibit increased acidity; other systems like binary Al-Ti oxide systems or even ternary systems like Al-Zr-Si systems can be produced using ALD systems, and provide an excellent potential to be explored.

Additionally, the chemistry of the outermost layer of multi-precursor ALD may differ depending on the last cycle. In an Al-Ti oxide system, in which Al_2O_3 layers can be alternately deposited with TiO₂ layers, the chemistry of the surface may depend on which layer is the final layer.

In this thesis, the zeta potential was the sole characterization technique used to probe the surface acidity of ALD-deposited oxide surfaces. Other techniques, such as elemental NMR (Si NMR, Al NMR), acid-base titrations, and amine-based FTIR are available, and should be explored in order to better understand the acidity of these new combinations of ALD films.

References

(1) Scholey, J. M. Compare and contrast the reaction coordinate diagrams for chemical reactions and cytoskeletal force generators. *Mol Biol Cell* **2013**, *24* (4), 433-439. DOI: 10.1091/mbc.E12-07-0545 From NLM.

(2) Catlow, C. R.; Davidson, M.; Hardacre, C.; Hutchings, G. J. Catalysis making the world a better place. *Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci* **2016**, *374* (2061). DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2015.0089 From NLM.

(3) Thomas, J. M.; Harris, K. D. M. Some of tomorrow's catalysts for processing renewable and non-renewable feedstocks, diminishing anthropogenic carbon dioxide and increasing the production of energy. *Energy & Environmental Science* **2016**, *9* (3), 687-708, 10.1039/C5EE03461B. DOI: 10.1039/C5EE03461B.

(4) Kandemir, T.; Schuster, M. E.; Senyshyn, A.; Behrens, M.; Schlögl, R. The Haber–Bosch Process Revisited: On the Real Structure and Stability of "Ammonia Iron" under Working Conditions. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* **2013**, *52* (48), 12723-12726. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201305812 (accessed 2023/10/04).

(5) Huang, J.; Rempel, G. L. Ziegler-Natta catalysts for olefin polymerization: Mechanistic insights from metallocene systems. *Progress in Polymer Science* **1995**, *20* (3), 459-526. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0079-6700(94)00039-5.

(6) Miceli, M.; Frontera, P.; Macario, A.; Malara, A. Recovery/Reuse of Heterogeneous Supported Spent Catalysts. In *Catalysts*, 2021; Vol. 11.

(7) Barder, T. E.; Walker, S. D.; Martinelli, J. R.; Buchwald, S. L. Catalysts for Suzuki–Miyaura Coupling Processes: Scope and Studies of the Effect of Ligand Structure. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2005**, *127* (13), 4685-4696. DOI: 10.1021/ja042491j.

(8) Kaatz, F. H.; Bultheel, A. Polyhedral Effects on the Mass Activity of Platinum Nanoclusters. In *Catalysts*, 2020; Vol. 10.

(9) Canlas, C. P.; Cheng, L.; O'Neill, B.; Dogan, F.; Libera, J. A.; Dumesic, J. A.; Curtiss, L. A.; Elam, J. W. Tunable Solid Acid Catalyst Thin Films Prepared by Atomic Layer Deposition. *ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces* **2022**, *14* (38), 43171-43179. DOI: 10.1021/acsami.2c09734.

(10) Pai, S. M.; Das, R. K.; Kumar, S. A. K.; Kumar, L.; Karemore, A. L.; Newalkar, B. L. Emerging Trends in Solid Acid Catalyst Alkylation Processes. In *Catalysis for Clean Energy and Environmental Sustainability: Petrochemicals and Refining Processes - Volume 2*, Pant, K. K., Gupta, S. K., Ahmad, E. Eds.; Springer International Publishing, 2021; pp 109-148.

(11) Lathiya, D. R.; Bhatt, D. V.; Maheria, K. C. Synthesis of sulfonated carbon catalyst from waste orange peel for cost effective biodiesel production. *Bioresource Technology Reports* **2018**, *2*, 69-76. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2018.04.007.

(12) Narayanan, S.; Deshpande, K. Aniline alkylation over solid acid catalysts. *Applied Catalysis A: General* **2000**, *199* (1), 1-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-860X(99)00540-2.

(13) Albright, L. F.; Li, K. W. Alkylation of Isobutane with Light Olefins Using Sulfuric Acid. Reaction Mechanism and Comparison with HF Alkylation. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Process Design and Development* **1970**, *9* (3), 447-454. DOI: 10.1021/i260035a013.

(14) Gupta, P.; Paul, S. Solid acids: Green alternatives for acid catalysis. *Catalysis Today* **2014**, *236*, 153-170. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cattod.2014.04.010.

(15) Puurunen, R. L. Growth Per Cycle in Atomic Layer Deposition: Real Application Examples of a Theoretical Model. *Chemical Vapor Deposition* **2003**, *9* (6), 327-332. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/cvde.200306266 (accessed 2023/08/23).

(16) Hammett, L. P. THE THEORY OF ACIDITY. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1928**, *50* (10), 2666-2673. DOI: 10.1021/ja01397a011.

(17) Reijenga, J.; van Hoof, A.; van Loon, A.; Teunissen, B. Development of Methods for the Determination of pKa Values. *Anal Chem Insights* **2013**, *8*, 53-71. DOI: 10.4137/aci.S12304 From NLM.

(18) House, J. E. Chapter 10 - Chemistry in nonaqueous solvents. In *Inorganic Chemistry (Third Edition)*, House, J. E. Ed.; Academic Press, 2020; pp 369-392.

(19) Olah, G. A. Crossing Conventional Boundaries in Half a Century of Research. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* **2005**, *70* (7), 2413-2429. DOI: 10.1021/jo0402850.

(20) Olah, G. A.; Schlosberg, R. H. Chemistry in super acids. I. Hydrogen exchange and polycondensation of methane and alkanes in FSO3H-SbF5 ("magic acid") solution. Protonation of alkanes and the intermediacy of CH5+ and related hydrocarbon ions. The high chemical reactivity of "paraffins" in ionic solution reactions. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1968**, *90* (10), 2726-2727. DOI: 10.1021/ja01012a066.

(21) Tanabe, K.; Misono, M.; Ono, Y.; Hattori, H. 2 Determination of Acidic and Basic Properties on Solid Surfaces. In *Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis*, Vol. 51; Elsevier, 1989; pp 5-25.

(22) Pearson, R. G. Hard and Soft Acids and Bases. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **1963**, 85 (22), 3533-3539. DOI: 10.1021/ja00905a001.

(23) Busca, G.; Gervasini, A. Chapter One - Solid acids, surface acidity and heterogeneous acid catalysis. In *Advances in Catalysis*, Song, C. Ed.; Vol. 67; Academic Press, 2020; pp 1-90.

(24) Misono, M. Heterogeneous Catalysis of Mixed Oxides; 2013.

(25) Bosman, H. J. M. Characterization of the acidity of SiO2-ZrO2 mixed oxides. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, 1995.

(26) Doolin, P. K.; Alerasool, S.; Zalewski, D. J.; Hoffman, J. F. Acidity studies of titania-silica mixed oxides. *Catalysis Letters* **1994**, *25* (3), 209-223. DOI: 10.1007/BF00816302.

(27) Wasilewska, J.; Chmielarek, M.; Skupiński, W. Study of Rh/TiO2–SiO2 system in photolytic water splitting. *Reaction Kinetics, Mechanisms and Catalysis* **2021**, *132* (2), 1165-1192. DOI: 10.1007/s11144-020-01924-3.

(28) G, K. M.; Haiduke, R. L. A. A Quantum Theory Atoms in Molecules Study about the Inductive Effect of Substituents in Methane Derivatives. *ACS Omega* **2020**, *5* (15), 9041-9045. DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.0c01081 From NLM.

(29) Shibata, K.; Kiyoura, T.; Kitagawa, J.; Sumiyoshi, T.; Tanabe, K. Acidic properties of Binary Metal Oxides. *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan* **1973**, *46* (10), 2985-2988. DOI: 10.1246/bcsj.46.2985 (accessed 2023/08/15).

(30) Wang, Z.; Li, T.; Jiang, Y.; Lafon, O.; Liu, Z.; Trébosc, J.; Baiker, A.; Amoureux, J.-P.; Huang, J. Acidity enhancement through synergy of penta- and tetra-coordinated aluminum species in amorphous silica networks. *Nature Communications* **2020**, *11* (1), 225. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-13907-7.

(31) Ferris, K. F. Sulfonated Metal-Oxide Surfaces: What Makes them So Acidic? *MRS Online Proceedings Library* **1993**, *318* (1), 539-544. DOI: 10.1557/PROC-318-539.

(32) Tanabe, K.; Sumiyoshi, T.; Shibata, K.; Kiyoura, T.; Kitagawa, J. A New Hypothesis Regarding the Surface Acidity of Binary Metal Oxides. *Bulletin of the Chemical Society of Japan* **1974**, *47* (5), 1064-1066. DOI: 10.1246/bcsj.47.1064 (accessed 2023/09/27).

(33) Kung, H. H. Formation of new acid sites in dilute oxide solid solutions: A predictive model. *Journal of Solid State Chemistry* **1984**, *52* (2), 191-196. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4596(84)90191-9.

(34) Haw, J. F. Zeolite acid strength and reaction mechanisms in catalysis. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics* **2002**, *4* (22), 5431-5441, 10.1039/B206483A. DOI: 10.1039/B206483A.

(35) Xu, B.; Sievers, C.; Lercher, J. A.; van Veen, J. A. R.; Giltay, P.; Prins, R.; van Bokhoven, J. A. Strong Brønsted Acidity in Amorphous Silica–Aluminas. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C* **2007**, *111* (32), 12075-12079. DOI: 10.1021/jp073677i.

(36) Chen, W.; Yi, X.; Huang, L.; Liu, W.; Li, G.; Acharya, D.; Sun, X.; Zheng, A. Can Hammett indicators accurately measure the acidity of zeolite catalysts with confined space? Insights into the mechanism of coloration. *Catalysis Science & Technology* **2019**, *9* (18), 5045-5057, 10.1039/C9CY01392J. DOI: 10.1039/C9CY01392J.

(37) Busca, G. Acidity and basicity of zeolites: A fundamental approach. *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials* **2017**, *254*, 3-16. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micromeso.2017.04.007.

(38) Srinivasan, S. Fuel Cells; Springer, 2006. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-35402-6.

(39) Chang, Q. Chapter 7 - Electrical Properties. In *Colloid and Interface Chemistry for Water Quality Control*, Chang, Q. Ed.; Academic Press, 2016; pp 79-136.

(40) Kosmulski, M. The pH dependent surface charging and points of zero charge. IX. Update. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science* **2021**, *296*, 102519. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2021.102519.

(41) Bhattacharjee, S. DLS and zeta potential – What they are and what they are not? *Journal of Controlled Release* **2016**, *235*, 337-351. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.06.017.

(42) Salinas, D.; Sepúlveda, C.; Escalona, N.; Gfierro, J. L.; Pecchi, G. Sol–gel La2O3–ZrO2 mixed oxide catalysts for biodiesel production. *Journal of Energy Chemistry* **2018**, *27* (2), 565-572. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jechem.2017.11.003.

(43) Fernández, C.; Sassoye, C.; Flores, N.; Escalona, N.; Gaigneaux, E. M.; Sanchez, C.; Ruiz, P. Insights in the mechanism of deposition and growth of RuO2 colloidal nanoparticles over alumina. Implications on the activity for ammonia synthesis. *Applied Catalysis A: General* **2015**, *502*, 48-56. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcata.2015.05.023.

(44) Gil Llambías, F. J.; Escalona, N.; Pfaff, C.; Scott, C.; Goldwasser, J. Comparison of surface coverage values of tungsten-alumina catalysts determined by different methods. *Reaction Kinetics and Catalysis Letters* **1999**, *66* (2), 225-229. DOI: 10.1007/BF02475794.

(45) Parsons, G. N.; George, S. M.; Knez, M. Progress and future directions for atomic layer deposition and ALD-based chemistry. *MRS Bulletin* **2011**, *36* (11), 865-871. DOI: 10.1557/mrs.2011.238.

(46) Xia, Z.; Rozyyev, V.; Mane, A. U.; Elam, J. W.; Darling, S. B. Surface Zeta Potential of ALD-Grown Metal-Oxide Films. *Langmuir* **2021**, *37* (39), 11618-11624. DOI: 10.1021/acs.langmuir.1c02028.

(47) Ferguson, J. D.; Weimer, A. W.; George, S. M. Atomic layer deposition of Al2O3 and SiO2 on BN particles using sequential surface reactions. *Applied Surface Science* **2000**, *162-163*, 280-292. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-4332(00)00205-1.

(48) Longrie, D.; Deduytsche, D.; Detavernier, C. Reactor concepts for atomic layer deposition on agitated particles: A review. *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A* **2013**, *32* (1), 010802. DOI: 10.1116/1.4851676 (accessed 9/13/2023).

(49) Krishna, S. H.; Zhang, L.; Hermans, I.; Huber, G. W.; Kuech, T. F.; Dumesic, J. A. Rates of levoglucosanol hydrogenolysis over Brønsted and Lewis acid sites on platinum silica-alumina catalysts synthesized by atomic layer deposition. *Journal of Catalysis* **2020**, *389*, 111-120. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcat.2020.05.025.

(50) Parks, G. A. The Isoelectric Points of Solid Oxides, Solid Hydroxides, and Aqueous Hydroxo Complex Systems. *Chemical Reviews* **1965**, *65* (2), 177-198. DOI: 10.1021/cr60234a002.

(51) McCafferty, E. A Surface Charge Model of Corrosion Pit Initiation and of Protection by Surface Alloying. *Journal of The Electrochemical Society* **1999**, *146* (8), 2863. DOI: 10.1149/1.1392021.

(52) Terribile, D.; Trovarelli, A.; Llorca, J.; de Leitenburg, C.; Dolcetti, G. The preparation of high surface area CeO2–ZrO2 mixed oxides by a surfactant-assisted approach. *Catalysis Today* **1998**, *43* (1), 79-88. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-5861(98)00136-9.

(53) Mullet, M.; Fievet, P.; Reggiani, J. C.; Pagetti, J. Surface electrochemical properties of mixed oxide ceramic membranes: Zeta-potential and surface charge density. *Journal of Membrane Science* **1997**, *123* (2), 255-265. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-7388(96)00220-7.

(54) Titus, D.; James Jebaseelan Samuel, E.; Roopan, S. M. Chapter 12 - Nanoparticle characterization techniques. In *Green Synthesis, Characterization and Applications of Nanoparticles*, Shukla, A. K., Iravani, S. Eds.; Elsevier, 2019; pp 303-319.

(55) Wang, T.-H.; Navarrete-López, A. M.; Li, S.; Dixon, D. A.; Gole, J. L. Hydrolysis of TiCl4: Initial Steps in the Production of TiO2. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry A* **2010**, *114* (28), 7561-7570. DOI: 10.1021/jp102020h.

(56) Leem, J.; Park, I.; Shin, S.; Min, Y.-S. Role of HCl in Atomic Layer Deposition of TiO₂ Thin Films from Titanium Tetrachloride and Water. *Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society* **2014**, *35* (4), 1195-1201. DOI: 10.5012/BKCS.2014.35.4.1195.

(57) Xu, P.; Wang, H.; Tong, R.; Du, Q.; Zhong, W. Preparation and morphology of SiO2/PMMA nanohybrids by microemulsion polymerization. *Colloid and Polymer Science* **2006**, *284* (7), 755-762. DOI: 10.1007/s00396-005-1428-9.

(58) Liu, Z.; Bode, V.; Hadayati, P.; Onay, H.; Sudhölter, E. J. R. Understanding the stability mechanism of silica nanoparticles: The effect of cations and EOR chemicals. *Fuel* **2020**, *280*, 118650. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.118650.